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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) 

 
As management of the City of Fremont, Nebraska (the “City” or “City of Fremont”) we offer readers of the 
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Fremont 
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

 The assets of the City of Fremont exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year 
by $218,881,115 (net position). Of this amount, $48,546,099 (unrestricted net position) may be 
used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. 

 As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City of Fremont governmental activities reported 
combined ending net position of $80,405,462. Approximately 15.9 percent of this total amount, 
$12,759,414, is unrestricted net position. 

 At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the General Fund was 
$8,799,921, or 59.3 percent of total General Fund expenditures. 

 
Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City of Fremont’s basic 
financial statements. The City of Fremont’s basic financial statements comprise three components:         
1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial 
statements. This report also contains required and other supplementary information in addition to the 
basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements.  The government-wide financial statements are designed to 
provide readers with a broad overview of the City of Fremont’s finances in a manner similar to a private-
sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information about the City of Fremont’s assets, deferred outflow of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, with the difference reported as net position.  Over 
time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial 
position of the City of Fremont is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government’s net position changed 
during the most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying 
event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues 
and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future 
fiscal periods (e.g., uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave).   
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Fremont that are 
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other 
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and 
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City of Fremont include general 
government, public safety, highways and streets, economic development and culture and recreation.    
The business-type activities of the City of Fremont include the Electric, Water, Sewer, Gas and Waste 
Transfer activities.  
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 13 and 14 of this report. 
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Fund Financial Statements.  A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control 
over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives.  The City of Fremont, like 
other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City of Fremont can be divided into three 
categories:  governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions 
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows 
and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end 
of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing 
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing 
decisions.  Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, 
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between 
governmental funds and governmental activities.   
 
The City of Fremont maintains 18 individual governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in 
the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, the Street Fund, and the Sales Tax Fund, all of 
which are considered to be major funds.  Data from the other 15 governmental funds are combined into a 
single, aggregated presentation.  Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is 
provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
The City of Fremont adopts an annual appropriated budget for its governmental funds. A budgetary 
comparison statement has been provided for the General, Street, and Sales Tax Funds to demonstrate 
compliance with this budget. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 15 - 18 of this report. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The City of Fremont maintains two different types of proprietary funds.  Enterprise 
funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide 
financial statements.  The City of Fremont uses enterprise funds to account for its Electric, Water, Sewer, 
and Gas Funds.  Internal service funds are an accounting device used to accumulate and allocate costs 
internally among the City of Fremont’s various functions.   
 
The City of Fremont uses internal service funds to account for its employee health insurance, workers’ 
compensation insurance and employee wellness fund.  Because this service predominantly benefits 
governmental rather than business-type functions, it has been included within governmental activities in 
the government-wide financial statements. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only 
in more detail.  The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Electric, 
Water, Sewer, and Gas Funds, all of which are considered to be major funds of the City of Fremont.   
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 19 - 22 of this report. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements.  The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to 
the financial statements can be found on pages 23 - 61 of this report. 
 
Other Information.  In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report 
also presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City of Fremont’s budgetary 
comparison schedules.  Required supplementary information can be found on pages 62 - 66 of this 
report. 
 
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds are 
presented immediately following the required supplementary information.  Combining fund statements 
can be found on pages 67 - 70 of this report. 
 
Government-wide Financial Analysis 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial 
position.  In the case of the City of Fremont, assets exceeded liabilities by $218,881,115 at the close of 
the most recent fiscal year. 
 

Summary of Net Position
(restated)

 September 30, 2014  September 30, 2013

Governmental Business-type Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total

Current and Other Assets 41,751,504$       89,644,962$        131,396,466$    39,687,422$       63,214,233$        102,901,655$    

Capital Assets 45,988,953         133,284,744        179,273,697      43,172,245         116,567,766        159,740,011      

Total Assets 87,740,457         222,929,706        310,670,163      82,859,667         179,781,999        262,641,666      

Long-term Liabilities 4,372,346          74,619,360         78,991,706       4,698,597          39,998,993         44,697,590       

Other Liabilities 2,962,649          9,834,693           12,797,342       3,019,738          6,993,211           10,012,949       

Total Liabilities 7,334,995          84,454,053         91,789,048       7,718,335          46,992,204         54,710,539       

Net Position:  

Net Investment 

in Capital Assets 42,398,703         93,316,267         135,714,970      39,335,995         84,885,568         124,221,563      

Restricted 25,247,345         9,372,701           34,620,046       25,625,551         14,778,873         40,404,424       

Unrestricted 12,759,414         35,786,685         48,546,099       10,179,786         33,125,354         43,305,140       

Total Net Position 80,405,462$       138,475,653$      218,881,115$    75,141,332$       132,789,795$      207,931,127$    
 

 
The largest portion of the City of Fremont’s net position (62.0 percent) reflects its net investment in capital 
assets (land, infrastructure, buildings, machinery, vehicles and equipment); less any related debt used to 
acquire those assets that is still outstanding.  The City of Fremont uses these capital assets to provide 
services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending.  Although the City 
of Fremont’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the City of Fremont’s net position (15.8 percent) represents resources that are 
subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net 
position ($48,546,099) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and 
creditors.   
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Fremont is able to report positive balances in all three 
categories of net position, both for the government as a whole and for its separate governmental and 
business-type activities. 
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Governmental Activities.  Net position increased $5,264,130 in the governmental activities during the 
year ended September 30, 2014, accounting for 48.1 percent of the total growth in the City’s net position 
for the year ended September 30, 2014.  Key elements of this increase are as follows: 
 

Year Ended September 30, 2014 Year Ended September 30, 2013

Program Program Program Program

Function Revenues Expenses Revenues Expenses

General government 1,346,558$    5,214,957$       703,456$      3,395,577$       

Public safety 1,089,449     7,260,425         1,555,786     7,349,224         

Public works 1,830,774     3,022,746         3,196,056     3,265,510         

Environment and leisure 752,858        3,477,882         755,277        3,248,244         

Non-departmental -               223,699           -               164,650           

Interest -               87,546             -               88,685             

Depreciation and amortizaion -               1,814,754         -               1,713,340         

     Total 5,019,639$    21,102,009$     6,210,575$   19,225,230$     

Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities

(restated)

 

SOURCES OF REVENUE
Year Ended September 30, 2014 Year Ended September 30, 2013

Charges for services 2,992,048$       11.35      % 2,279,419$       9.03        %

Operating grants and contributions 720,830            2.73        1,066,332         4.23        

Capital grants and contributions 1,306,761         4.96        2,864,824         11.35      

Property taxes 5,246,993         19.90      4,853,929         19.24      

Motor vehicle taxes 472,114            1.79        451,668            1.79        

Sales tax 5,997,513         22.75      5,681,535         22.52      

TIF payments 232,484            0.88        254,511            1.01        

Payments in lieu of taxes 11,468              0.04        10,807              0.04        

Franchise taxes 242,362            0.92        266,951            1.06        

Other taxes 1,197,921         4.54        1,107,658         4.39        

State allocation 3,158,920         11.98      2,858,458         11.33      

Keno 595,735            2.26        535,654            2.12        

Special assessments 76,568              0.29        390,443            1.55        

Miscellaneous 77,769              0.29        57,220              0.23        

Interest 126,434            0.48        124,179            0.49        

Gain (loss) on sale of assets 154,913            0.59        (17,903)             (0.07)       

Transfer from (to) other funds 3,755,306         14.24      2,445,424         9.69        

     Total 26,366,139$     100.00    % 25,231,109$     100.00    %

Revenues by Source – Governmental Activities

(restated)
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Business-type Activities.  Business-type activities increased the City of Fremont’s net position by 
$5,685,858, accounting for total growth of 51.9 percent of the total growth in the City’s net position for the 
year ended September 30, 2014. Key elements of this increase are as follows: 
 

Year Ended September 30, 2014 Year Ended September 30, 2013

 Program Program  Program Program

Function Revenues Expenses Revenues Expenses

Electric 35,727,793$     29,667,167$     33,741,231$     28,525,971$     

Water 3,355,051         2,709,624         3,233,760         2,618,695         

Sewer 5,238,577         3,888,004         4,282,133         3,891,690         

Gas 17,999,571       16,719,915       15,371,340       13,956,256       

Waste transfer -                  -                  1,123,383         1,430,750         

        Total 62,320,992$     52,984,710$     57,751,847$     50,423,362$     

Expenses and Program Revenues – Business-type Activities

 

SOURCES OF REVENUE

Charges for services 61,190,663$     104.30  % 57,432,357$     103.87  %

Operating grants and contributions -                  -       141,456           0.26      
Capital grants and contributions 1,130,329         1.93      178,034           0.32      
Interest 193,790           0.33      188,912           0.34      
Gain (loss) on sale of assets (88,908)            (0.15)    (203,062)          (0.37)    
Transfer (to) from other funds (3,755,306)       (6.40)    (2,445,424)       (4.42)    

     Total 58,670,568$     100.00  % 55,292,273$     100.00  %

Revenues by Source – Business-type Activities

Year Ended September 30, 2014 Year Ended September 30, 2013

 

Financial Analysis of the Government’s Funds 
 

As noted earlier, the City of Fremont uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 
 

Governmental Funds.  The focus of the City of Fremont’s governmental funds is to provide information 
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in 
assessing the City of Fremont’s financing requirements.  In particular, unassigned fund balance may 
serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal 
year. 
 

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Fremont’s governmental funds reported combined 
ending fund balances of $35,107,298. Approximately 24.1 percent of this total amount ($8,452,506) 
constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the government’s discretion.  The 
remainder of fund balance is not available for new spending because it has already been 1) restricted for 
debt service ($110,992), 2) restricted for street improvements ($8,380,570), 3) restricted for public safety 
($1,281,396), 4) restricted for infrastructure ($4,458,362), 5) restricted for property tax relief ($624,067), 
6) restricted for economic development ($5,578,754), 7) restricted for a variety of capital/special projects 
($2,166,788), 8) restricted for Federal programs ($17,344), 9) restricted for community betterment 
($716,663), 10) restricted for community development block grant ($109,384), 11) committed for code 
enforcement/defense ($1,971,994), 12) assigned for downtown improvement projects ($1,650),              
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13) assigned for the airport ($128,139), 14) endowed as non-spendable principal ($125,000),                 
15) non-spendable prepaid expense ($36,185) or 16) non-spendable notes receivable ($947,504). 
The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the City of Fremont.  At the end of the current fiscal year, 
the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $8,799,921. As a measure of the General Fund’s 
liquidity, it may be useful to compare unassigned fund balance to total fund expenditures.  Unassigned 
fund balance represents 59.3 percent of total General Fund expenditures.   
 
The fund balance of the City of Fremont’s General Fund increased by $3,192,775 during the current fiscal 
year, due in part to an increased property tax levy designed to increase fund balance by $750,000 in 
anticipation of legal expenses incurred defending a controversial local ordinance, the transfer of waste 
transfer station operations fund balance ($698,063) from proprietary funds to the General Fund as well as 
significant reductions in salaries and benefit costs due to the timing of backfilled positions. 
 
Proprietary Funds.  The City of Fremont’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information found 
in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Unrestricted net position of the proprietary funds at the end of the year were as follows: Electric Fund - 
$21,874,207, Water Fund - $1,713,774, Sewer Fund - $4,890,796, Gas Fund - $7,307,908 and Waste 
Transfer Fund - $0.  The change in net position for the proprietary funds was as follows:  Electric Fund - 
$3,813,556, Water Fund - $813,475, Sewer Fund - $1,296,455, Gas Fund - $460,435 and Waste Transfer 
Fund – ($698,063).  The increase in the Electric Fund was attributable to a November 2013 six percent 
rate increase in the electric fund.  Other factors concerning the finances of these five funds have already 
been addressed in the discussion of the City of Fremont’s business-type activities. 
 
Budgetary Highlights 
 
There was no difference between the original budget and the final adopted budget for the City of Fremont.   
 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 
 
Capital Assets.  The City of Fremont’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-
type activities as of September 30, 2014, amounts to $179,273,697 (net of accumulated depreciation).  
This investment in capital assets includes land, building and system improvements, machinery and 
equipment, park facilities, roads, highways and bridges.   
 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 
 

Significant items placed in service during the current year at their installed values: 
 

 Electric distribution system improvements - $1,430,584 
 Sewer system improvements  - $913,976 
 East Military – Johnson Rd to E Side of Highway 275 overpass - $765,072 
 Water system improvements  - $588,785 
 Gas system improvements - $314,049 
 Storm water pumping station screen, Washington St - $301,533 
 Luther Road – 32nd to 38th Street - $245,700. 
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Significant additions to Construction in Progress for continuing projects, with the current year 
expenditures noted: 
 

 Unit 8 environmental upgrade - $13,610,554 
 Unit 8 Precipitator rebuild - $3,677,178 
 West Military, Ridge Road to BNSF - $1,625,713 
 Westside BNSF Railroad Viaduct - $353,864 
 Unit 6, 7 & 8 Digital Control system - $277,525 
 Unit 6, 7, & 8 fire suppression system - $276,028 
 Unit 8 circ Water pump - $253,317 
 North Luther Road 16’ water main extension - $226,591 

 

(restated)

Year Ended September 30, 2014 Year Ended September 30, 2013

Governmental Business-type Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total

Land 7,926,934$      4,237,456$        12,164,390$      7,935,652$      4,237,456$        12,173,108$      

Construction in Progress 5,884,273        21,423,860        27,308,133        3,625,692        3,345,499          6,971,191          

Infrastructure 20,263,357      -                     20,263,357        19,486,420      -                     19,486,420        

Buildings and Improvements 9,318,151        -                     9,318,151          9,518,687        -                     9,518,687          

Machinery and Equipment 2,596,238        4,125,236          6,721,474          2,605,794        4,497,139          7,102,933          

Distribution Systems, 

Buildings, and Equipment -                   102,841,783      102,841,783      -                   103,988,367      103,988,367      

Office Furniture 

and Equipment -                   314,089             314,089             -                   370,690             370,690             

Vehicles -                   342,320             342,320             -                   128,615             128,615             

Total 45,988,953$    133,284,744$    179,273,697$    43,172,245$    116,567,766$    159,740,011$    

City of Fremont's Capital Assets

(net of depreciation)

 
 
Additional information on the City of Fremont’s capital assets can be found in Note C4 on pages 41 - 43 
of this report. 
 
Long-term debt.  At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Fremont had total bonded debt, notes 
payable (excluding TIF bonds payable) outstanding of $78,295,250. 
 

Year Ended September 30, 2014 Year Ended September 30, 2013

Governmental Business-type Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total Activities Activities Total

General Obligation Bonds 3,515,000$         -$                    3,515,000$     3,740,000$         -$               3,740,000$     

Revenue Bonds -                    74,705,000          74,705,000     -                    40,515,000     40,515,000     

Notes Payable 75,250               -                      75,250            96,250               73,250            169,500          

        Total 3,590,250$         74,705,000$         78,295,250$    3,836,250$         40,588,250$    44,424,500$    

City of Fremont's Outstanding Debt

 
 
The City of Fremont’s total debt increased by $33,870,750 (76.2 percent).  The City issued a combined 
utilities revenue bond of $36.2 million to fund the remainder of the air quality emissions equipment project 
during the current year. 
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The City of Fremont maintains an AA(-) bond rating.   
Additional information on the City of Fremont’s long-term debt can be found in Note C6 on pages 44 - 46 
of this report. 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budgets and Rates 

 The City Council approved a two-year budget in the first year this process was made available by 
Nebraska Statutes for fiscal years 2014 and 2015. 

 In September 2014, the City Council amended the 2015 fiscal year budget.  The Property tax 
assessment for the year ending September 30, 2015 is $4,578,946, which is 13.3 percent lower 
than the assessment for the year ended September 30, 2014, due primarily to the City Council 
decreasing the property tax request by $700,000, on the premise that there is no anticipated 
litigation as a result of implementing a citizen-initiated petition ordinance relating to illegal 
immigration.  The City Council committed $1,971,994 at September 30, 2014 for this purpose. 

 Health care claims were reviewed and management increased the employer and employee 
contributions to the self-funded City Employee Insurance Fund to cover the increased claims 
experience.  Department budgets will be impacted in total by an estimated $300,000, and 
department management has been asked to find savings in other areas, instead of increasing 
appropriation. 

 The City entered into an interlocal agreement with Dodge County to merge dispatch operations 
into a new Communications Center.  The activity of the joint Public Safety Answer Point (PSAP) 
will be recorded as a fund of the City, with contributions from the County to fund capital 
improvements and operations.  The merger was complete August 2013, and a significant portion 
of the capital improvements are complete, so ongoing contributions will be predominantly for 
operations. 

 The City has budgeted and expects to make significant expenditures for the following capital 
projects during the next fiscal year, (expenditures for capital projects will be dependent upon 
actual revenues remaining within budgeted levels): 

 
- Emissions control improvements to electric system - $45,820,000 

budgeted to be funded by the $9,980,000 and $36,260,000 in bonds 
already issued. 

- Various citywide paving and resurfacing projects - $1,517,000 
- Fire Aerial replacement - $1,100,000 
- Odor control project at waste water treatment plant - $1,000,000 
- Unit 6 Bag replacement - $600,000. 
- Trails projects- $500,000 

 
 The City Council approved a six percent increase in rates for the Electric Fund effective 

November 2013, with another six percent increase going into effect November 2014.  An increase 
in Water Fund rates effective November 2014 is expected to generate an additional $250,000 in 
revenue in the 2015 fiscal year. 

 
All of these factors were considered in preparing the City of Fremont’s budget for the 2015 fiscal year. 
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Request for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Fremont’s finances for all 
those with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Director 
of Finance, City of Fremont, 400 E. Military Avenue, Fremont, NE  68025.  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the City of Fremont, Nebraska (the “City”) are prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The City’s reporting entity applies all relevant 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) pronouncements.  
 
The accounting and reporting framework and the more significant accounting principles and practices are 
discussed in subsequent sections of this Note.   
 
  1. Financial Reporting Entity 
 
The City of Fremont, Nebraska, was incorporated in 1871.  The City operates under a Mayor-Council form 
of government with an elected Mayor and an elected legislative body, Council, composed of eight 
members.  The Mayor is elected at large for a four-year term, and the eight members of the City Council 
are elected, two from each of four wards, on alternating four-year terms.  The administration of the City 
government is performed under the direction of the Mayor by the City Administrator.  Services provided to 
residents include public safety; highways and streets; planning and zoning; parks; recreation; urban 
development; electric, water and sanitary sewer systems; gas; waste transfer and general administrative 
services.   
 
These financial statements present the financial statements of the City as the primary government.  In 
determining its reporting entity, the City has considered all potential component units for which it is 
financially accountable, including other organizations which are fiscally dependent on the City, or the 
significance of their relationship with the City are such that exclusion would make the financial statements 
misleading or incomplete.  The GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial 
accountability, which was used in making this evaluation.  The City has no potential component units to 
include in its reporting entity. 
 
  2. Basis of Presentation 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
 
The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities display information about the reporting 
government as a whole.  They include all funds of the reporting entity except for fiduciary funds.             
The statements distinguish between governmental and business-type activities.  Governmental activities 
generally are financed through taxes, intergovernmental revenues, and other non-exchange revenues.  
Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties for goods or 
services.   
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Fund financial statements of the reporting entity are organized into funds, each of which is considered to 
be a separate accounting entity.  Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing 
accounts.  Funds are organized into two major categories:  governmental and proprietary.  An emphasis 
is placed on major funds within the governmental and proprietary categories.  Each major fund is 
displayed in a separate column and the remaining funds are aggregated and reported as other 
governmental or proprietary funds.   
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CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  2. Basis of Presentation, Continued 
 
The City reports the following fund types:   
 
Governmental Funds 
 
General Fund 
 
The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City and is always classified as a major fund.           
It is used to account for all activities except those legally or administratively required to be accounted for 
in other funds.   
 
Special Revenue Funds 
 
Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 
restricted to expenditures for certain purposes.   
 
Debt Service Fund 
 
The Debt Service Fund accounts for the accumulation of financial resources for the payment of interest 
and principal on the general long-term debt of the City other than debt service payments made by 
enterprise funds.  Ad valorem taxes are used for the payment of principal and interest on the City’s 
general obligation bonds.   
 
Capital Projects Fund 
 
The Special Projects Fund is used to account for financial resources to be used for the acquisition or 
construction of major capital facilities (other than those financed by proprietary funds and trust funds). 
 
Proprietary Funds 
 
Enterprise Funds 
 
Enterprise funds are used to account for business-like activities provided to the general public.            
These activities are financed primarily by user charges and the measurement of financial activity focuses 
on net income measurement similar to the private sector.     
 
Internal Service Funds 
 
The internal service funds account for activities that provide goods and services to other funds, 
departments or agencies of the primary government and its component units on a cost-reimbursement 
basis. 
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CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  2. Basis of Presentation, Continued 
 
Major and Non-major Funds 
 
The City reports the following major and non-major funds:   
 
 Fund Brief Description 
 
Major: 
 
Governmental: 

General See above for description.   
 
Street The Street Fund is a Special Revenue Fund that 

accounts for the City’s share of highway allocation from 
the State of Nebraska. 

 
Sales Tax The Sales Tax Fund is a Special Revenue Fund that 

accounts for local sales tax collected.   
 
Proprietary: 

Enterprise: 
   Electric, Water, Sewer, Gas, See above for description.   
      and Waste Transfer 

 
Internal Service: 

Insurance Accounts for the workers’ compensation, and health 
insurance, and other programs for all governmental-
fund-type City operations.   

 
Non-major: 
 
Governmental: 

Debt Service See above for description.   
 

Special Revenue: 
Municipal Transit  Accounts for Federal and State grant funds used for bus 

service. This fund was closed out during the current 
fiscal year, as the bus service was terminated.  

 
Paving and Sidewalk Districts  Accounts for the collection of special assessments on 

various paving and sidewalk districts.   
 
Downtown Improvement District  Accounts for improvements and maintenance of 

downtown business area using occupation taxes.   
 
Public Use Property Special Projects Accounts for bequests with restricted uses that the City 

receives. 
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CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  2. Basis of Presentation, Continued 
 
Major and Non-major Funds, Continued 
 
 Fund Brief Description 
 
Non-major, continued: 

 
Governmental, continued: 

Special Revenue, continued: 
On-Street Parking  Accounts for improvements and maintenance of on-

street parking area using parking fees. This fund was 
closed out during the current year, as parking monitoring 
was terminated. 

 
Keno Fund  Accounts for the City’s share of the Keno gaming 

proceeds.   
 
CDBG Fund  Accounts for revolving loans funded by CDBG grants.   

 
Weatherization EDA (HUD)  Accounts for weatherization revolving loans funded by 

HUD grants. 
 
Economic Enhancement Accounts for economic enhancement programs of the 

City. 
 

Airport Fund Accounts for the operation and maintenance of the 
municipal airport. 

 
Enhanced and Wireless 911  Accounts for the per-line telephone surcharge and per-

line cell phone surcharge for the emergency 
communications system.   

 
Drug Task Force  Accounts for Federal grant proceeds and payments from 

surrounding governmental entities under an interlocal 
agreement to combat drug use in Fremont and 
surrounding communities.   

 
Community Development Agency Accounts for the resources for payment of principal and 

interest on tax increment financing bonds issued by the  
 Community Development Agency of the City of Fremont.  

These bonds were issued to provide long-term financing 
for several development areas. These bonds are 
payable only from real estate taxes on certain property 
located within these plan areas and do not constitute 
general obligations of the Agency or the City. 

 
Capital Projects: 

Special Projects See above for description. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
 3. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting 
 
The accounting and financial reporting treatment is determined by the applicable measurement focus and 
basis of accounting.  Measurement focus indicates the type of resources being measured such as current 
financial resources or economic resources.  The basis of accounting indicates the timing of transactions 
or events for recognition in the financial statements. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded 
when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are 
recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.  Grants and similar items are recognized as 
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements are reported using the current financial resources 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as 
they are both measureable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are 
collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. 
 
The City considers revenues are available if they are collected within sixty days of the end of the fiscal 
period.  Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interested associated with the current 
fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the 
current fiscal period.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only when 
cash is received by the government. 
 
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  However, 
debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and 
judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.  General capital asset acquisitions are reported as 
expenditures in governmental funds.  Issuance of long-term debt and acquisitions under capital leases 
are reported as other financing sources. 
 
  4. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance 
 
Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  
Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash and Investments 
 
For the purpose of the Statement of Net Position, “cash and cash equivalents” include all demand 
accounts and savings accounts.  For the purpose of the proprietary fund Statement of Cash Flows, “cash 
and cash equivalents” include all cash on hand, demand accounts, savings accounts, and equity in 
pooled cash which has an original maturity of three months or less.  The County Treasurer’s cash 
represents revenues collected not yet remitted to the City. 
 
Investments are reported at fair value.  Fair value is based on quoted market price.  Additional cash and 
investment disclosures are presented in Notes B2, C1, and D2.   
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance, 

Continued 
 
Receivables 
 
In the government-wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year end and not yet 
received.  Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and the 
periodic aging of accounts receivable.  Major receivable balances for the governmental activities include 
special assessments and property taxes.  Business-type activities report utility billings as their major 
receivables.   
 
In the fund financial statements, receivables in governmental funds include revenue accruals such as 
special assessments and property taxes, since they are usually both measurable and available.   
Proprietary fund receivables consist of all revenues earned at year end and not yet received.  Utility 
accounts receivable compose the majority of proprietary fund receivables.  Allowances for uncollectible 
accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and the periodic aging of accounts receivable. 

 
Notes Receivable 

 
Notes receivable include long-term loans made to local businesses and citizens using revolving loan 
funds from Community Development Block Grants through the State of Nebraska, as well as other 
economic development based loans of LB840 revolving loan funds or Economic Enhancement funds of 
the City to qualifying businesses.  Some loans are forgivable when certain performance-based conditions 
are met.  Loans are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible amounts. Tax Increment Financing (“TIF”) 
notes receivable are recorded at the lesser of the present value of the anticipated revenue stream or the 
actual TIF bond payable amount. 
 
Due from Other Governments 
 
The total due from other governments includes the following amounts: 
 

 Fund Amount Service 
 
General $     45,884 SRO reimbursement/ 
  Grant reimbursement/ 
  Library Commission 
  payments 
Street 1,790 Grant reimbursement/ 
  Motor Vehicle/Gas Tax 
Sales tax 1,042,234 Sales Tax 
CDBG Fund 18,532 Grant reimbursement 
Drug Task Force 14,475 Grant reimbursement 
Wireless 911 39,201 Grant reimbursement 
Special Projects 30,500 Grant reimbursement 
Electric fund        48,493 Capital grant 
  reimbursement, FEMA 
 

Total $1,241,109  
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 

 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance, 

Continued 
 
Inventory 
 
All inventories are valued at average cost, except natural gas, which is valued at cost using the           
first-in/first-out (“FIFO”) method. 
 
Restricted Assets 
 
Restricted assets include cash and investments that are legally restricted as to their use.  The primary 
restricted assets are related to debt service and proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally 
restricted to expenditures for certain purposes.   
 
Capital Assets 
 
The accounting treatment over property, plant, and equipment (capital assets) depends on whether the 
assets are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are 
reported in the government-wide or fund financial statements. 
 
Government-wide Statements 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, capital assets are capitalized and reported on the Statement 
of Net Position.  The City has a $5,000 capitalization threshold.  All capital assets are valued at historical 
cost or estimated historical cost if actual is unavailable, except for donated capital assets, which are 
recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.  The City has elected the depreciation 
approach for reporting infrastructure.   
 
Depreciation of general capital assets and all proprietary capital assets is recorded as an allocated 
expense in the Statement of Activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net 
Position.  Depreciation is provided over the assets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of 
depreciation.  The ranges of estimated useful lives by type of asset are as follows: 
 

Buildings 20-50 years 
Improvements 10-50 years 
Machinery and equipment 3-20 years 
Utility system 25-50 years 

 
The cost of normal maintenance, preservation, and repairs that do not add to the value of the assets or 
materially extend the assets’ lives are not capitalized.   
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for 
as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition.  Capital assets used in 
proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same as in the government-wide statements. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 
NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance, 

Continued 
 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources.  This represents a consumption of net position that applies to future period(s) and 
will not be recognized as an outflow of resources (as either an expense or expenditure) until that period.  
The City currently does not have any items that qualify for reporting in this category. 
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources.  This represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and 
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that period.  The City has two items that 
qualify for reporting in this category:  (1) Unavailable revenue received after the availability period.  This 
includes property taxes plus other local taxes and fees received after 60 days.  They are reported as 
deferred inflows on the governmental funds balance sheet and will be recognized as revenue next year.  
(2) Unavailable revenue relating to loans. 
 
Compensated Absences 
 
Accumulated vacation leave related to the City’s governmental funds is recorded as an expenditure and a 
fund liability as the amount is generally used within one year.  The City’s policies regarding unused sick 
time permit employees to accumulate a portion of earned but unused sick leave.  For employees with 20 
years of service, 45 percent of the unused hours are accrued up to a maximum of 480 hours per 
employee. The liability for these compensated absences is recorded as long-term debt in the 
government-wide statements. In the fund financial statements governmental funds do not report the 
compensated absence liability for sick leave since it is not payable from expendable available financial 
resources.  As the paid vacation and sick leave accrue to employees paid out of the proprietary funds, an 
expense and a liability are recorded in those funds. 
 
Long-term Debt, Deferred Debt Expense, and Bond Discounts/Premiums 
 
The accounting treatment of long-term debt depends on whether the assets are used in governmental 
fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are reported in the government-wide or 
fund financial statements. 

 
Government-wide Statements 
 
In government-wide and proprietary financial statements, outstanding debt is reported as a liability.     
Bond discounts or premiums and the difference between the reacquisition price and the net carrying 
value of refunded debt are capitalized and amortized over the terms of the respective bonds using the 
method that approximates the effective interest method. The long-term debt consists primarily of bonds  
payable and a fly ash liability. 
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NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance, 

Continued 
 
Long-term Debt, Deferred Debt Expense, and Bond Discounts/Premiums, Continued 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
The governmental fund financial statements recognize the proceeds of debt and premiums as other 
financing sources of the current period and payment of principal is reported as expenditures. 
 
Net Position Flow Assumption 
 
Government-wide Statements  
 
Net position is classified and displayed in three components: 
 

a. Net invested in capital assets – Consists of capital assets, including restricted capital assets, 
net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the outstanding balances of any bonds, 
mortgages, notes or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or 
improvement of those assets. 

 
b. Restricted net position – Consists of net position with constraints placed on their use either by 

(1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors or laws or regulations of other 
governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
c. Unrestricted net position – All other net position that do not meet the definition of “restricted” or 

“net invested in capital assets.” 
 
Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted 
resources.  In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net 
position in the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, a flow assumption must be 
made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the City’s policy to use 
restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
 
September 30, 2013, net position for the governmental activities in the government-wide statements were 
restated to reflect the City’s annexation of Highway 275 and Military as follows: 
 
 Adjustment for prior year infrastructure $ 2,798,398 
 Adjustment for prior period depreciation (     39,975) 
 
 Total restatement of governmental activities 
    Net assets at September 30, 2013 $2,758,423 
 
Fund Balance Flow Assumption 
 
Fund balances are divided into five classifications based primarily on the extent to which the City is bound 
to observe constraints imposed upon the use of the resources in the governmental funds.                      
The classifications are as follows: 
 
 Non-spendable – Amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in a spendable form 

or because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
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SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 

NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Assets, Liabilities, Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources and Net Position/Fund Balance, 

Continued 
 
Fund Balance Flow Assumption, Continued 
 
 Restricted – Amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of the City Charter, 

City Code, state or federal laws or externally imposed conditions by grantors or creditors. 
 
 Committed – Amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal action 

by the City Council through an ordinance or resolution. 
 
 Assigned – Amounts that are designated by the Mayor for a specific purpose, but are not 

spendable until a budget ordinance is passed by the City Council. 
 
 Unassigned – All amounts not included in other spendable classifications. 
 
Sometimes the City will fund outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted and unrestricted 
resources (the total of committed, assigned and unassigned fund balance).  In order to calculate the 
amounts to report for each category of fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements a flow 
assumption must be made about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied.  It is the 
City’s policy to consider restricted fund balance to have been depleted before using any of the 
components of unrestricted fund balance.  Further, when the components of unrestricted fund balance 
can be used for the same purpose, committed fund balance is depleted first, followed by assigned fund 
balance.  Unassigned fund balance is applied last. 
 
  5. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses 
 
Sales and Use Tax 
 
The City presently levies a one-and-one-half-cent sales tax on taxable sales within the City.  The sales 
tax is to be used for the following purposes:   
 

1/2% –  60 percent for infrastructure and 40 percent for public safety 
1/2% –  for property tax relief 
1/2% –  divided in equal thirds for economic development, street improvements, and public 

safety   
 
The sales tax is collected by the Nebraska Department of Revenue and remitted to the City in the month 
following receipt.  The Nebraska Department of Revenue receives the sales tax approximately one month 
after collection by vendors.  
 
Sales taxes collected by the State in September and October (which represents sales for August and 
September) and received by the City in October and November have been accrued and are included 
under the caption “Due from other governments.” 
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NOTE A – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, CONTINUED 
 
  5. Revenues, Expenditures, and Expenses, Continued 
 
Property Taxes 
 
The City has the power to levy taxes each year sufficient to pay any judgment existing against the City, 
the interest on bonded debt, and the principal on bonded debt maturing during the fiscal year or within six 
months thereafter, as well as taxes authorized by state law.  
 
The tax levies for all political subdivisions in Dodge County are certified by the County Board on or before 
October 15.  Real estate taxes are due on December 31 and attach as an enforceable lien and become 
delinquent in two equal installments on May 1 and September 1.  Personal property taxes are due in the 
same manner as real estate taxes.  Delinquent taxes bear 14 percent interest. 
 
Property taxes levied for 2013-2014 are recorded as revenue when expected to be collected within        
60 days after September 30, 2014. Prior-year levies were recorded using these same principles, and 
remaining receivables are re-evaluated annually.  Property taxes expected to be collected after 60 days 
are recorded as unavailable revenue on the fund balance sheets. 
 
Operating Revenues and Expenses 
 
Operating revenues and expenses for proprietary funds are those that result from providing services and 
producing and delivering goods and/or services.  It also includes all revenue and expenses not related to 
capital and related financing, noncapital financing, or investing activities. 
 
Expenditures/Expenses 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, expenses are classified by function for both governmental 
and business-type activities. 
 
In the fund financial statements, expenditures are classified as follows: 
 
 Governmental funds – by character and function 
 
 Proprietary fund – by operating and non-operating 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report expenditures of financial resources.  
Proprietary funds report expenses relating to use of economic resources. 
 
Interfund Transfers 
 
Permanent reallocation of resources between funds of the reporting entity is classified as transfers.        
For the purposes of the Statement of Activities, all interfund transfers between individual governmental 
funds have been eliminated.  
 
NOTE B – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY 
 
By its nature as a local government unit, the City is subject to various federal, state, and local laws and 
contractual regulations.  An analysis of the City’s compliance with significant laws and regulations and 
demonstration of its stewardship over City resources follows: 
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NOTE B – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY, CONTINUED 
 
  1. Fund Accounting Requirements 
 
The City complies with all state and local laws and regulations requiring the use of separate funds.       
The legally required funds used by the City include:  General, Special Revenue, and Debt Service Funds. 
 
  2. Deposit Laws and Regulations 
 
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, a government’s deposits may not be 
returned to it.  The City’s deposit policy for custodial credit risk requires compliance with the provisions of 
state law.   
 
State law requires collateralization of all deposits with federal depository insurance or with U.S. Treasury 
and U.S. agency securities having an aggregate value at least equal to the amount of the deposits.       
The City’s cash deposits, including certificates of deposit, are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250,000 per participating financial institution. Any cash deposits or 
certificates of deposit in excess of the FDIC limits are insured by collateral held by the pledging institution 
in the City’s name.   
 
  3. Revenue Restrictions 
 
The City has various restrictions placed over certain revenue sources from state or local requirements.  
The primary restricted revenue sources are described in Note A2 for the various funds. 
 
  4. Debt Restrictions and Covenants 
 
Bonds Payable 
 
The various bond ordinances relating to the bonds payable contain some restrictions or covenants that 
are financial-related.  These include covenants such as debt service coverage requirements and required 
reserve account balances.  The City is in compliance with the bond restrictions and covenants.   
 
  5. Budgetary Data 
 
The City is required by state laws to adopt annual budgets for all fund types.  Each budget is presented 
on the cash basis of accounting, which is consistent with the requirements of the state budget act.  A 
change in the state budget act allowed the City to adopt a two-year budget (fiscal years 2013-2014 and 
2014-2015) in September 2013. 
 
The Nebraska Budget Act provides the prescribed budget practices and procedures that governing 
bodies are required to follow.  The amounts that may be budgeted for certain specific funds are subject to 
various expenditure and/or tax levy limitations. 
 
The City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the accompanying 
financial statements. 
 

a. On or before August 1, the City prepares a budget for the fiscal year commencing October 1.  
The budget includes proposed expenditures and resources available. 

 
b. The budget is published with subsequent public hearings to obtain taxpayer comments. 
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NOTE B – STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY, CONTINUED 
 
  5. Budgetary Data, Continued 
 

c. Prior to September 20, the City Council adopts the budget, which is then filed with the appropriate 
state and county officials. 
 

d. Total expenditures may not legally exceed total appropriations. The legal level of budgetary 
control is by fund type and any revisions require council approval. 
 

e. The County Clerk certifies a preliminary property tax levy for each fund of the City which levied 
property taxes in the county the previous year based on the combined valuation and amount 
required for the City the prior year. The preliminary levy becomes the final levy unless the 
governing board passes, by a majority vote, a resolution setting the levy at a different amount. 

 
f. The property tax requirements resulting from the budget process are utilized by the County 

Assessor to establish the tax levy. Taxes are levied annually on or before October 15.            
Real property taxes and personal property taxes are due December 31 with the first half 
delinquent May 1 and the second half delinquent September 1. 
 

g. Appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year, except for capital improvement appropriations 
and certain encumbrances against operating budgets. 
 

h. The City of Fremont adopts a budget by ordinance for all fund types. 
 

NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS 
 
The following notes present detail information to support the amounts reported in the basic financial 
statements for the City’s various assets, liabilities, deferred outflows/inflows of resources, net 
position/fund balances, revenues and expenditures/expenses.   
 
  1. Cash and Investments 
 

The City’s policies regarding deposits of cash are discussed in Note A4 and the City’s policies 
regarding risk management over deposits and investments are discussed in Note D2. The City’s 
cash deposits and investments are with institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“FDIC”) and other collateral.  At September 30, 2014, the bank balance of the City’s 
deposits and investments were fully-insured or collateralized.  
 
Reconciliation to Government-wide Statement of Net Position: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents –  
 Unrestricted    $ 44,304,680 
 Restricted    2,369,715 
Investments –  
 Unrestricted    23,155,544 
 Restricted         41,465,924  
 
  Total    $111,295,863  
 

The business-type restricted assets relate to $34,462,938 of bond proceeds for a construction project, 
$8,872,701 of debt service reserves required by bond agreements and $500,000 to cover fly ash closure 
costs.   
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  2. Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable of the business-type activities consists of utilities receivables.  Accounts receivable 
of the governmental activities consist of ambulance (52.5 percent), cable franchise tax (14.0 percent), 
Keno proceeds (6.2 percent), waste transfer (16.4), general fund fees assessed (6.8 percent), and other 
(4.1 percent) receivables.  Receivables detailed at September 30, 2014, are as follows: 

Governmental Business-type

Activities Activities Total

Accounts receivable 428,134$     2,779,380$    3,207,514$ 

Allowance for doubtful accounts (75,829)        (531,151)       (606,980)    

Net accounts receivable 352,305$     2,248,229$    2,600,534$ 
 

 
  3. Notes Receivable 
 
Notes receivable at September 30, 2014, consist of the following:   
 

General Fund:   
 
$37,397 note receivable issued to Fremont Housing Authority on 
October 1, 2003.  The non-interest-bearing note is due in 15 annual 
installments of $2,493 commencing December 15, 2004, through 
December 15, 2018.   $      12,466 
 
Sales Tax Fund:   
 
LB840 Notes Receivable –  

 
 $50,000 note issued June 23, 2004 to Southwark Metal 

Manufacturing Company. The non-interest-bearing loan is 
due in 60 quarterly installments of $833 commencing 
December 1, 2004 through September 1, 2019.         16,667 

 
Economic Enhancement Fund:   
 
$100,000 note receivable issued October 22, 2012 to Sycamore Leaf 
Solutions, LLC. The performance-based loan at zero percent interest 
and is forgivable over the five-year life of the loan based on certain 
benchmarks, none of which have been achieved as of September 
30, 2014.       100,000 
  

  



 

38 

CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 

 
NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  3. Notes Receivable, Continued 
 

CDBG Fund:  
 
$250,000 note receivable issued June 23, 2004 to Southwark Metal 
Manufacturing Company.  The non-interest-bearing loan is due in 60 
quarterly installments of $4,167 commencing December 1, 2004 
through September 1, 2019.   $ 83,333 
 
$100,000 note receivable issued November 8, 2011 to Ready Tech 
Go. The note is non-interest-bearing and is due in 60 monthly 
installments of $1,667 commencing December 1, 2011 through 
November 1, 2016.        43,333 
 
 Total CDBG Fund notes receivable      126,666 
 
Weatherization EDA (HUD) Fund:   
 
$31,251 note advances issued during the year ended September 30, 
2014 to two Fremont residents under CDBG weatherization loans.  
The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent 
per year over a 10-year period. $      31,251 
 
$10,994 note receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2014 to two Fremont residents under CDBG weatherization 
loans.  The loan bears interest at one percent and is repayable in 
240 monthly installments of $51. 10,994 
 
$24,401 note receivable issued during the year ended September 
30, 2014 to a Fremont resident under CDBG weatherization loans.  
The loan will be non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent 
per year over a 10-year period. 23,994 
 
$50,000 notes receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2014 to two Fremont residents under CDBG weatherization 
loans.  The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 
percent per year over a 10-year period. 42,917 
 
$117,483 note receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2013 to seven Fremont residents under four CDBG 
weatherization loans.  The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will 
be forgiven 10 percent per year over a 10-year period. 103,937 
 
$40,540 note receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2013 to two Fremont residents under CDBG weatherization 
loans.  The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 
percent per year over a 10-year period. 34,617 
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  3. Notes Receivable, Continued 

 
Weatherization EDA (HUD) Fund:   
 
$25,000 note receivable issued January 25, 2012 to a Fremont 
resident under a CDBG weatherization loan.  The loan will be non-
interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent per year over a      
10-year period. $ 18,542 
 
$33,265 note receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2012 to two Fremont residents under CDBG weatherization 
loans.  The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven    
10 percent per year over a 10-year period. 26,057 
 
$77,990 note receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2011 to eight residents of Fremont under five CDBG 
weatherization loans.  The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will 
be forgiven 10 percent per year over a 10-year period. 53,210 
 
$15,597 note receivable issued October 27, 2010 to a Fremont 
resident under a CDBG weatherization loan.  The loan will be non-
interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent per year over a     
10-year period. 9,618 
 
$64,153 note receivables issued during the year ended September 
30, 2010 to four residents of Fremont under a CDBG weatherization 
loan. The loans will be non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven      
10 percent per year over a 10-year period. 38,670 
 
$64,395 note receivables issued January 28, 2010 to four Fremont 
residents under CDBG weatherization loans.  The loans will be non-
interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent per year over a     
10-year period. 34,881 

 
$11,547 note receivable to a resident of Fremont under two CDBG 
weatherization loans dated April 9, 2009.  The loans are non-
interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent per year over a     
10-year period. 5,389 
 
$20,000 note receivable issued October 9, 2008 to two residents of 
Fremont under a CDBG weatherization loan.  The loan is non-
interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent per year over a     
10-year period. 8,666 
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  3. Accounts and Notes Receivable, Continued 
 

Weatherization EDA (HUD) Fund, Continued:  
 
$18,885 note receivable issued during the year ended September 
30, 2008 to a resident of Fremont under a CDBG weatherization 
loan.  Fifty percent of the loan is non-interest-bearing and is 
forgivable over a 10-year period, with the remaining 50 percent 
bearing interest at two percent.  The repayable portion ($9,423) is 
due in 120 monthly installments commencing September 1, 2007 
through August 1, 2017.  $       5,711 

 
$12,534 note receivable issued to two residents of Fremont under a 
CDBG weatherization loan.  The note bears interest of five percent 
and is due in 180 monthly installments of $100 commencing April 1, 
2004 through March 1, 2019.                 4,673 
 
$4,685 note receivable issued to two residents of Fremont under a 
CDBG weatherization loan.  Fifty percent of the loan is non-interest-
bearing and is forgivable over a 10-year period, with the remaining 
50 percent bearing interest at two percent.  The repayable portion 
($2,343) is due in 120 monthly installments commencing July 1, 
2007 through June 1, 2012. 644 
 
Twenty-three housing rehab loans issued in prior years.  The notes 
are non-interest-bearing and will be forgiven 10 percent per year 
over a period of 10 years.        39,100 
 
Downtown Revitalization Loans (Inc. in Weatherization Fund) 
 
$325,500 notes receivables issued during the years ended 
September 30, 2014 and 2013 to eleven Fremont property owners 
under CDBG downtown revitalization loans.  The loans will be non-
interest-bearing and will be forgiven after five years if the related 
building improvements remain in place during that time.   325,500 
 
 Total Weatherization Fund notes receivable     818,371 
 
     Total notes receivable  1,074,170 
 

       Allowance for doubtful accounts                   -      
 

          Net notes receivable  $ 1,074,170  
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Capital Assets, Continued  

 
General Fund, Continued 
 
Public works:  

Civil Engineering $      84,467 
 
Environment and leisure: 

Culture and recreation       536,580 
 

Total General Fund       900,931 
 
Street Fund        681,265 
 
Municipal Transit Fund 

Environment and leisure          4,460 
 
Airport Fund 

Environment and leisure      198,494  
 
E911 Fund 

Public Safety        29,064  
 

Total governmental activities depreciation expense $ 1,814,214  
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  4. Capital Assets, Continued 
 

Balance at Balance at

October 1, September 30,

2013 Additions Disposals Reclass 2014

Business-type Activities:

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land 4,237,456$     -$             -$       -$       4,237,456$     
Construction in progress 3,345,499      18,078,361   -         -         21,423,860     

Total capital assets 
   not being depreciated 7,582,955      18,078,361   -         -         25,661,316     

Other capital assets being depreciated:
Distribution systems, buildings, 

and equipment 216,247,084   3,891,651     (227,474) -         219,911,261   
Machinery and equipment 15,492,141     145,039       (55,555)  (7,326)    15,574,299     
Office furniture and equipment 2,020,508      36,093         (1,148)    -         2,055,453      
Vehicles 3,618,133      292,485       (80,127)  (16,190)  3,814,301      

Total other capital assets at
   historical cost 237,377,866   4,365,268     (364,304) (23,516)  241,355,314   

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Distribution systems, buildings, 

and equipment (112,258,717)  (5,019,347)   208,586  -         (117,069,478)  
Machinery and equipment (10,995,002)   (506,266)      44,879    7,326     (11,449,063)   
Office furniture and equipment (1,649,818)     (92,694)        1,148     -         (1,741,364)     
Vehicles (3,489,518)     (78,780)        80,127    16,190    (3,471,981)     

Total accumulated depreciation (128,393,055)  (5,697,087)   * 334,740  23,516    (133,731,886)  

Other capital assets, net 108,984,811   (1,331,819)   (29,564)  -         107,623,428   

Business-type activities capital
   assets, net 116,567,766$ 16,746,542$ (29,564)$ -$       133,284,744$ 

 
 
* Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows: 
      Electric $ 3,028,177 
      Water 901,794 
      Sewer 1,287,150 
      Gas       479,966 

           Business-type activities depreciation expense $ 5,697,087  
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  6. Long-term Debt, Continued 
 
Governmental Activities 
 
As of September 30, 2014, the governmental long-term liabilities consisted of the following: 
 

Bonds and notes payable: 
 
General obligation refunding bonds for a swimming pool with an 
original issue amount of $4,165,000 was issued October 4, 2011 
with interest rates ranging from 0.35 percent to 3.40 percent.  
Interest is due in semiannual installments on February 1 and August 
1.  Principal is due in annual installments commencing August 1, 
2012 through August 1, 2026.   $ 3,515,000 
 
Non-interest-bearing note payable to Nebraska Department of 
Aeronautics, due in monthly installments of $1,750 through April 
2018.          75,250 
 
      Total governmental long-term debt $ 3,590,250  
 
Current portion $    256,000 
Noncurrent portion      3,334,250  
      Total $ 3,590,250  

 
Business-type Activities 
 
As of September 30, 2014, the long-term debt payable from proprietary fund resources consisted of the 
following: 
 

Bonds payable: 
 
Combined utilities revenue bonds, with an original issue amount of 
$36,260,000, issued July 29, 2014, interest rates ranging from 2.00 
- 5.0 percent.  Interest is due in semi-annual installments on 
January 15 and July 15.  Principal is due in annual installments 
commencing January 15, 2015 through July 15, 2034. $ 36,260,000 
 
Combined utilities revenue bonds, with an original issue amount of 
$9,980,000, issued August 30, 2013, interest rates ranging from 
0.35 - 4.0 percent.  Interest is due in semi-annual installments on 
January 15 and July 15.  Principal is due in annual installments 
commencing July 15, 2014 through July 15, 2033. 9,530,000 
 
Combined utilities revenue refunding bonds, with an original issue 
amount of $19,200,000, issued March 6, 2012, interest rates 
ranging from 0.35 - 4.0 percent.  Interest is due in semi-annual 
installments on April 15 and October 15.  Principal is due in annual 
installments commencing October 15, 2012 through October 15, 
2026.  18,050,000 
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  6. Long-term Debt, Continued 
 
Business-type Activities, Continued 
 

Bonds payable, continued: 
 
Combined utilities revenue refunding bonds with an original issue 
amount of $2,420,000 was issued June 3, 2014.  Interest rates 
ranging from 0.3 – 3.4 percent.  Interest is due in semiannual 
installments on March 1 and September 1. Principal is due in 
annual installments commencing September 1, 2014 through 
September 1, 2028.   $   2,295,000 
 
Combined utilities revenue refunding bonds with an original issue 
amount of $8,460,000 was issued October 6, 2009.  Interest is due 
in semi-annual installments on February 15 and August 15 with 
rates ranging from 1.0 - 4.0 percent.  Principal is due in annual 
installments commencing August 15, 2010 through August 15, 
2023. 5,380,000 
 
Combined utilities revenue refunding bonds with an original issue 
amount of $3,955,000 was issued July 19, 2011.  Interest is due in 
semi-annual installments on March 1 and September 1 with rates 
ranging from 0.55 – 3.8.0 percent.  Principal is due in annual 
installments commencing September 1, 2012 through September 1, 
2025.        3,190,000  
 
     Total business-type activity long-term debt $ 74,705,000  

 
Current portion $   3,340,000 
Noncurrent portion     71,365,000  

           Total $ 74,705,000  
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  7. Fly Ash Closure Costs 
 
The City currently has a fly ash disposal area.  State and Federal laws require the City to close, monitor, 
and maintain the disposal area once capacity is reached.  The estimated costs of closure and post 
closure care as determined by the City are subject to changes due to the effects of inflation, revision of 
laws, changes in technology and other variables.  As of September 30, 2014, the City had incurred a 
liability of $263,099 for closure and post closure costs for the disposal area.   

 
  8. Tax Increment Financing Bonds 
 
The Community Development Agency of the City of Fremont, Nebraska has undertaken a program for the 
redevelopment of certain blighted and substandard areas in the City.  Under the program, various 
developers agree to create an increase in the project’s taxable valuation for real estate tax assessment 
purposes.  The Community Development Agency receives the incremental real estate taxes paid on the 
projects and then uses the tax incremental financing (TIF) funds to assist the developer with the debt 
service related to the project costs.  Estimated future receivables and payables under the redevelopment 
contracts were as follows as of September 30, 2014:   
 
 Receivable Payable 

 
JAKK, LLC $   155,410 $  155,410 
TCK Leasing, LLC 268,532 268,532 
MDI Limited Partnership 98,440 98,440 
Logger Investments, LLC 85,645 85,645 
South Broad Street, LLC (See footnote C9)      242,566              -       
 $   850,593 $   608,027 
 
The Community Development Agency of the City of Fremont, Nebraska records the receivable and 
payable at the lesser of the present value of the estimated revenue stream or the unpaid principal. The 
General Fund purchased the bonds related to the South Broad Street, LLC project and the payable is 
recorded as a Due to Other Funds on the Community Development Agency Fund financial statements 
and as a Due from Other Funds on the General Fund financial statements rather than a TIF Payable. 

 

  9. Interfund Transactions and Balances 
 
Due from/to other funds: 
 
At September 30, 2014 were the following due from/to other funds: 
 

Purpose Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount
   
City’s share of communication center operations E911 General $72,801
Reimburse expense for fuel and payment for 

service provided 
Electric General 35,537

Payment for service provided Water General 4,176
Payment for service provided Sewer General 1,571
Payment for service provided Gas General 1,237
Capital expenditures General Sales Tax 40,617
Payment for service provided General Street 356
Capital expenditures Street Sales Tax 551,570
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NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
  9. Interfund Transactions and Balances, Continued 
 
Due from/to other funds, continued: 
 

Purpose Receivable Fund Payable Fund Amount 
   
Reimburse expense for fuel and payment for 

service provided 
Electric Street $   2,929

Payment for service provided Water Street 118
Payment for service provided Gas Street  168
Payment for service provided Sewer Street 30
South Broad Street TIF General Community Dev. 

Agency 
392,650

South hangar complex reimbursement Sales Tax Airport 139,498
Payment for service provided Electric Airport 893
Payment for service provided Gas Airport 23
Reimburse expense for expense reclassification CDBG Weatherization 14,857
Service cash flow needs General CDBG 3,000
Service cash flow needs General E911 350,000

 
Operating transfers: 
 Purpose Transfers In Transfers Out 

General fund: 
Sales tax Property tax relief; operating  $ 3,613,762 $ -      
    transfers; capital projects 
Drug task force Officer salaries  90,687 
Keno Property tax relief  525,000  -      
Public use property Library books and landscaping  6,692  -      

special projects  
Electric Utility transfer in; expense reimbursement  2,311,290 ( 13,840) 
    for IT purchases 
Water Utility Transfer in  50,000  -      
Sewer Utility Transfer in  150,000  -      
Gas Utility Transfer in  764,140  -      
E911 City’s contribution to dispatch operations -      ( 447,424) 
Drug task force City’s contribution to drug task force   ( 37,145)  
Transit City’s contribution to transit operations -      ( 3,511) 
On-street parking City’s contribution to on-street parking operations -      ( 2,058) 
Waste Transfer Waste Transfer reserves from Enterprise funds     698,063     -     . 
     Total general fund    8,209,634 ( 503,978) 

 
Street fund: 

Sales tax Various street improvement projects; 2,450,113  -      
    drainage improvements; reimburse  
    property insurance 
Downtown Improvement Downtown street improvements          15,000               -       
  District 
     Total street fund    2,465,113              -       

 
  



 

49 

CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 
NOTE C – DETAIL NOTES ON TRANSACTION CLASSES/ACCOUNTS, CONTINUED 
 
9. Interfund Transactions and Balances, Continued 
 
Operating transfers, continued: 

Sales tax fund: 
General Property tax relief; operating  $        -       $( 3,613,762) 
    transfers; capital projects 
Street Various street improvement projects  -       ( 2,450,113) 
    drainage improvements; reimburse  
    property insurance 
Special projects Trail improvements  -       ( 72,343) 
Water Infrastructure debt service contribution -       ( 213,433) 
Sewer Infrastructure debt service contribution;          -  ( 90,914)  
     Total sales tax fund    -    ( 6,440,565) 

 
Non-major funds Economic development – electric and   662,481 ( 637,379) 
    gas to economic enhancement; others  
    see above 
Enterprise funds See above       318,187 ( 4,073,493)  
 

     Total operating transfers   $11,655,415 $(11,655,415) 
 
  10. Deficit Fund Balance 
 
At September 30, 2014, the Community Development Agency Fund had a deficit balance of $313,524. 
Some of the deficit will be offset by the unearned revenue as it is earned in future years. The Community 
Development Agency also has the right to levy taxes to eliminate a deficit; however, no decision to levy 
taxes has been made. 
 
At September 30, 2014, the Airport Fund had a deficit balance of $11,809. The City expects to eliminate 
this deficit as unavailable revenue is recognized. 
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NOTE D – OTHER NOTES 
 
  1. Employee Pension and Other Benefit Plans 
 
The City participates in seven employee pension plans; four are contributory defined contribution plans 
(qualilfied 414(h) plans), two are qualified defined benefit plans - one each for pre-1984- hired police and 
firefighters, and a non-qualified deferred compensation plan as follows: 
 

 Name of Plan Type of Plan 
Retirement Income Plan for City 
    Government Employees Defined Contribution Plan 
Police Officers’ Retirement Plan Defined Contribution Plan 
Police Plan (Pre-1984) Defined Benefit Plan 
Firefighters’ Retirement Plan Defined Contribution Plan 
Firefighters Plan (Pre-1984)  Defined Benefit Plan 
Department of Utilities and  
     Library Dept. Pension Plan Defined Contribution Plan 
Deferred Compensation Plan Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan 

 
Retirement Income Plan for City Government Employees 
 
The City of Fremont has a contributory defined contribution employees’ pension plan in which the general 
employees, excluding the Library Department employees, of the City participate.  Regular full-time 
employees with less than seven consecutive years of service will contribute five percent of their gross 
payroll and the City will match the five percent.  For those regular full-time employees with seven or more 
consecutive years of service, the City will contribute 6.5 percent.  Employees are eligible to participate 
after six months of continuous service and after attaining age 21.  As of September 30, 2014, there were 
73 participants in the plan.   
 
All employees are fully-vested in their own contributions and become vested in the City’s contribution 
after seven years’ participation in the plan.   
 
For the year ended September 30, 2014, the City’s total payroll and covered payroll under the plan was 
$3,150,412 and $3,129,746, respectively.   
 
The employees and the City contributed $156,489 and $194,213, respectively, as required by the plan for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014. 
 
Police and Firefighters Plans 
 
The City of Fremont, Nebraska Police Officers’ Retirement Plan (Police Plan) and the City of Fremont, 
Nebraska Firefighters’ Retirement Plan (Firefighters Plan) are administered as follows: 
 

(1) Employees who were hired prior to January 1, 1984, the date at which the Police and 
Firefighters Plans were amended from defined benefit plans to their current status as 
defined contribution plans, were assured of receiving retirement benefits under the new plan 
at least as great as those under the old defined benefit plan. 

 
(2) Employees hired after January 1, 1984 are covered by the defined contribution plan, which 

is administered by a third party. 
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NOTE D – OTHER NOTES, CONTINUED 
 
  1. Employee Pension and Other Benefit Plans, continued 
 
Police and Firefighters Plans, Continued 
 

The employees hired prior to January 1, 1984 participate in both plans and will receive either their benefit 
from the defined contribution plan or defined benefit plan, whichever is greater.  The City has funded their 
portion of the respective plan with the assets being held by a third party other than the administrator of 
the current defined contribution plan.   
 
Based on the actuarial valuation dated September 1, 2014, it is anticipated that the unallocated account is 
not sufficient to provide the minimum defined benefits for the remaining pre-84 hires in the Police Plan.  
The estimated present value shortfall is $393,263 for the remaining members.  If this shortfall were 
amortized over expected future lifetimes of the remaining Police Officers hired prior to 1984 then $27,891 
would need to be contributed each year.  As of September 30, 2014, management believes that with 
these additional contributions the funding will be sufficient.  The City contributed $27,891 to the 
unallocated account on December 31, 2014.   
 
Based on the actuarial valuation dated September 1, 2014, it is anticipated that the unallocated account is 
not sufficient to provide the minimum defined benefits for the remaining pre-84 hires under the 
Firefighters Plan.  The estimated present value shortfall is $62,788 for the remaining members.  If this 
shortfall were amortized over expected future lifetimes of the remaining Firefighters hired prior to 1984 
then $5,556 would need to be contributed each year.  As of September 30, 2014, management believes 
that with these additional contributions the funding will be sufficient.  The City contributed $5,556 to the 
unallocated account on December 31, 2014. 
 
 
Police Plan  
 

Plan Description 
 
The Police Plan became effective November 18, 1965.  Its provisions are covered by City ordinance.    
The Police Plan covers all employees classified as a police officer. 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2014, the City’s total payroll and covered payroll under the plan was 
$2,191,229 and $2,167,715, respectively. 
 
As of September 1, 2014, the date of the last actuarial valuation of the defined benefit plan, there were 
three non-active participants in the Police Plan. 
 
An employee with at least 25 years of service may retire as early as age 55.  Normal retirement occurs at 
age 60 with a minimum of 21 years of service, if employed on or before November 18, 1965; otherwise, 
25 years. 
 
Under the Police Plan, normal retirees employed on or before January 1, 1984 would not receive an 
annuity benefit of less than 50 percent of regular pay.  All current employees will receive a benefit based 
on their defined contribution account.  An employee is 100 percent vested in his or her contributions, 6.5 
percent of monthly compensation, and vests 40 percent after four years of service plus 10 percent for 
each year thereafter, up to 100 percent, in the City’s contributions, a matching 6.5 percent. 
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NOTE D – OTHER NOTES, CONTINUED 
 
  1. Employee Pension and Other Benefit Plans, Continued 
 
Police Plan, Continued 
 
Funding Status of Defined Benefit Plan 
 
The projected retirement benefits at September 1, 2014, were determined through an actuarial valuation.  
The actuarial valuation was performed using the Aggregate Actuarial Cost Method, which determines the 
total cost of the projected pension benefits to all employees combined.  This total cost is then spread over 
the average future remaining years to retirement for the employees. The cost is spread as a level 
percentage of compensation. 

Significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation included (a) a rate of return of four percent for 
post-retirement per annum, and (b) use of the 2014 417(e) mortality table.  
 
The pension benefit obligation, a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of pension 
benefits, intended to help assess the funding status of pensions, is as follows: 

Fair value of plan assets at September 30, 2014 $ 64,638 
Benefit obligation   458,113  
Funded status $(393,475) 

Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost recognized 
   in the balance sheet $     -       

 
Funding Status of Defined Contribution Plan 
 
The Police employees are eligible on the first day of employment.  The employees contribute 6.5 percent 
and the City contributes 6.5 percent.  There were 57 participants in the plan as of September 30, 2014.   
 
Contributions Required and Made 
 
The actuarially determined recommended contribution under the defined benefit plan was zero, and no 
contributions were made for the year ended September 30, 2014. 
 
Contributions made under the defined contribution portion of the Police Plan for the year ended 
September 30, 2014 were as follows: 
  Amount as a Percentage 
  of Covered Payroll 
 

Employer $ 140,999 6.5% 
Employee    140,875   6.5  
 $ 281,874 13.0% 

Firefighters Plan 
 
Plan Description 
 
The Firefighters Plan became effective August 7, 1965.  Its provisions are covered by City ordinance.  
The Firefighters Plan covers all employees classified as a Firefighter. 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2014, the City’s total payroll and covered payroll under the plan was 
$1,684,528 and $1,513,300, respectively. 
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  1. Employee Pension and Other Benefit Plans, Continued 
 
Firefighters Plan, Continued 
 
Plan Description, continued 
 
As of September 1, 2014, the date of the last actuarial valuation of the defined benefit plan, there were 
eight non-active participants in the Firefighters Plan.   
 
An employee who has attained the age of 50 with 21 years of service may take early retirement with 
benefits reduced by the actuarial equivalent of their normal retirement at age 55. 
 
Under the Firefighters Plan, normal retirees employed prior to January 1, 1984 would not receive an 
annuity benefit of less than 50 percent of regular pay.  All current employees will receive a benefit based 
on their defined contribution account.  An employee is 100 percent vested in his or her contributions, 6.5 
percent of monthly compensation, and vests 40 percent after four years of service plus 10 percent for 
each year thereafter, up to 100 percent, in the City’s contributions, 13 percent of monthly compensation. 
 
Funding Status of Defined Benefit Plan 
 
The projected retirement benefits at September 1, 2014 were determined through an actuarial valuation.  
The actuarial valuation was performed using the Aggregate Actuarial Cost Method, which determines the 
total cost of the projected pension benefits to all employees combined. This total cost is then spread over 
the average future remaining years to retirement for the employees.  The cost is spread as a level 
percentage of compensation. 
 
Significant actuarial assumptions used in the valuation included (a) a rate of return of four percent for 
post-retirement per annum, and (b) used of the 2014 417(e) mortality tables. 
 
The pension benefit obligation, a standardized disclosure measure of the present value of pension 
benefits, intended to help assess the funding status of pensions, is as follows: 
 

Fair value of plan assets at September 30, 2014 $ 966,110 
Benefit obligation   1,043,348  
Funded status $( 77,238)  
 
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost 
   recognized in the balance sheet $          -       

 
The Fire employees are eligible on the first day of employment.  The employees contribute 6.5 percent 
and the City contributes 13 percent.  There were 44 participants in the plan as of September 30, 2014.   

 
Contribution Required and Made 
 
The actuarially determined recommended contribution under the defined benefit plan was zero, and no 
contributions were made for the year ended September 30, 2014. 
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  1. Employee Pension and Other Benefit Plans, Continued 
 
Firefighters Plan, Continued 
 
Contributions made under the defined contribution portion of the Firefighters Plan for the year ended 
September 30, 2014, were as follows: 

  Amount as a Percentage  
  of Covered Payroll 
 
Employer $ 196,730* 13.0% 
Employee      98,363   6.5 
 $ 295,093 19.5% 
 

* This includes contributions for firefighters who were over age 55, who do not continue making 
payments. 
 

City Department of Utilities and Library Department Pension Plan 
 
The City of Fremont has a contributory defined contribution employees’ pension plan in which the Utilities 
and Library Department employees of the City participate.  Regular full-time employees with less than 
seven consecutive years of service will contribute five percent of their gross payroll and the City will 
match the five percent.  For those regular full-time employees with seven or more consecutive years of 
service, the City will contribute 6.5 percent.  Employees are eligible to participate after four months of 
continuous service and after attaining age 21.  As of September 30, 2014, there were 174 participants in 
the plan.   
 
All employees are fully-vested in their own contributions and become vested in the City’s contributions 
after seven years’ participation in the plan.   
 
For the year ended September 30, 2014, the City’s total payroll and covered payroll under the plan was 
$9,541,178 and $9,493,236, respectively.   
 
The employees and the City contributed $474,664 and $578,903 respectively, as required by the plan, for 
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2014.   

 
Deferred Compensation Plan 
 
The City has a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Section 
457.  The plan is available to all City employees.  The plan permits them to defer a portion of their salary 
until future years.  The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, 
death, unforeseeable emergency or permanent disability. 
 
As of January 1, 1997, these funds were placed in trust, in accordance with IRS Code Section 457(g)(1).  
IRS Code Section 457(g)(1), applicable for plan year beginning January 1, 1997 states that “a plan 
maintained by an eligible employer shall not be treated as an eligible deferred compensation plan unless 
all assets and income of the plan are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of participants and their 
beneficiaries.”  The deferred compensation plan as placed in trust is not subject to any creditors of the 
City. 
 
The employees contributed $245,203 and the City contributed $0 under the plan for the year ended 
September 30, 2014.   
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2. Risk Management 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; thefts of, damage to, or destruction of assets; 
errors or omissions; injuries to employees; or acts of God.  The City purchases commercial insurance and 
administers funds for certain self-insured programs.  The City has self-insured itself for health benefits 
and workers’ compensation claims.  The City maintains a workers’ compensation fund and a self-insured 
loss fund.  The City provides first-dollar coverage for all workers’ compensation exposure, with insurance 
acting as an umbrella or excess coverage.  The City is self-insured for workers’ compensation claims up 
to $500,000 per occurrence.  The City is also self-insured for health insurance claims up to $225,000 of 
individual claims.  The City currently has 262 employees being covered under the health benefit plan.  
The self-insurance programs are administered within the Internal Service Fund.  The City maintains 
outside insurance coverage through various insurance policies covering buildings and their contents, 
equipment and property, and risk of loss due to employee dishonesty.   
 
Settled claims in the past three years have not exceeded the commercial coverages.  The City has 
estimated unsubmitted claims on health benefits, based on prior experience, to be $374,685. This amount 
represents two months of subsequent claims.  The City has also estimated the unsubmitted claims on 
workers’ compensation, based on the claims for the two months subsequent to year end, to be $17,143.  
This has been included as a current year expenditure.  For all of the self-insured funds, an unreserved 
fund balance of $2,107,776 was in the Internal Service Fund at September 30, 2014.   

 
Deposits and Investments 
 
Concentration of Credit Risk.  The City’s deposits and investment policy places no limit on the amount 
that may be invested in any one issuer.  At September 30, 2014, the City’s investments consisted of 
certificates of deposit at the following institutions:   
 

Financial Institution Amount

Cornerstone Bank, Columbus 25,363,047$        *
Pinnacle Bank/Fremont 21,400,000          *
Nebraska Land National Bank 12,155,621          *
First National Bank - Fremont 5,702,800$          *
     Totals 64,621,468$        

 
 
* Represent more than five percent of total investments 

 
Foreign Currency Risk.  This risk relates to adverse effects on the fair value of an investment from 
changes in exchange rates.  The City’s investments had no exposure to foreign currency risk and the City 
held no investments denominated in foreign currency at September 30, 2014.   
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  2. Risk Management, Continued 
 

Deposits and Investments, Continued 
 
Custodial Credit Risk.  For deposits and investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of 
the failure of a bank or other counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its deposits or 
investment or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.  All of the underlying 
securities for the City’s investments at September 30, 2014 are held by the counterparties, not in the 
name of the City.  The underlying securities consist of cash, certificates of deposit, and insured money 
market funds.   
 
Interest Rate Risk.  As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest 
rates, the City’s deposits and investment policy requires that market conditions and investment securities 
be analyzed to determine the maximum yield to be obtained and to minimize the impact of rising interest 
rates. The investment maturities are as follows:   
 

Maturities by Month Amount

October 2014 3,525,000$        
November 2014 7,110,763         
December 2014 3,250,000         
January 2015 8,304,183         
February 2015 1,000,000         
March 2015 4,750,000         
April 2015 3,500,000         
May 2015 6,574,085         
June 2015 1,000,000         
July 2015 12,812,864        
August 2015 625,000            
September 2015 1,646,000         
Due in more than 12 months 10,523,573        

64,621,468$      
 

 
Credit Risk.  Credit risk is the risk that the bank or other counterparty will not fulfill its obligations.  The 
City’s cash equivalents and investments consist of certificates of deposit and money market funds, 
minimizing credit risk associated with the City’s investment portfolio.   
 
  3. Commitments and Contingencies 
 

Regulatory Compliance 
 
The City of Fremont is required by state and federal laws and regulations to make annual contributions to 
finance fly ash closure and post closure care.  The City is in compliance with these requirements, and at 
September 30, 2014 investments of $500,000 are held for these purposes.  These investments are held 
in certificates of deposit and are presented on the City’s balance sheet as restricted investments.  Details 
of the restricted cash and investments are in Note C1.  It is anticipated that future inflation costs will be 
financed in part from earnings on investments.  The remaining portion of anticipated future inflation costs 
(including inadequate earnings on investments, if any) and additional costs that might arise from changes 
in post closure requirements (due to changes in technology or more rigorous environmental regulations, 
for example) may need to be covered by charges to future electricity customers, taxpayers, or both.   



 

57 

CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 
NOTE D – OTHER NOTES, CONTINUED 
 
  3. Commitments and Contingencies, Continued 
 
Regulatory Compliance, continued 
 
The Electric Department’s operations are subject to stringent federal, state, and local laws and 
regulations relating to improving and maintaining environmental quality. Current studies have determined 
that a substantial capital investment will be required to bring the Department into compliance with 
environmental regulations including mercury emissions. Environmental expenditures related to current 
operations are factored into the strategic planning process of the Department and are considered when 
determining future energy rates. Financing of these expenditures is expected to be through available cash 
reserves and bonded debt. 
 
The City has entered into a two-year agreement with Omaha Public Power District to act as Fremont’s 
agent in marketing and purchasing power under the Southwest Power Pool (“SPP”) day ahead integrated 
market which took effect on March 1, 2014.  The full impact of the new SPP arrangement and federal 
reliability regulations is unknown, but it is believed to increase the City’s cost of purchasing power during 
outages at its generation facility and to decrease revenues received for the sale of excess energy.  In 
addition, the City will continue to incur additional costs for the marketing services in connection with its 
participation in the SPP. 
 
Electric Department 
 
The Electric Department entered into an agreement with Arch Coal Sales Company, Inc., effective 
January 1, 2013 through December 31, 2014.  Under the terms of the agreement, the City must purchase 
275,000 tons of coal each calendar year at an agreed-upon base price per ton, which will be adjusted 
each month for any variation in the Base Btu.  As of September 30, 2014, the City had purchased 
217,313 of the tons required under the second contract year.  
 
In the current year, the Electric Department entered into an agreement with Cloud Peak Energy 
Resources LLC., effective January 1, 2015 through December 31, 2015.  Under the terms of the 
agreement, the City must purchase 245,000 tons of coal at an agreed-upon base price per ton, which will 
be adjusted each month for any variation in the Base Btu. 
 
The Electric Department entered into a rail transportation agreement with Union Pacific Railroad 
Company for coal shipping.  The contract term is January 1, 2012 through December 31, 2018.  Under 
the terms of the agreement, the City must use Union Pacific to ship a minimum of 300,000 tons and a 
maximum volume of 400,000 tons for each twelve month period during the contract term.  The agreed-
upon base rate per net ton is adjusted quarterly, based on the percentage change in the rail cost 
adjustment factor, as well as a mileage-based fuel surcharge. 
 
Gas Department 
 
The Gas Department entered into an agreement to purchase natural gas from BP Canada Energy 
Marketing Corp. on September 18, 2012.  The agreement is effective November 1, 2012 through October 
31, 2017.  The MDQ volume under the contract is as follows:  5.000 MMBtu/day for November 2012, 
March 2013, November 2013, March 2014, November 2014, March 2015, November 2015, March 2016, 
November 2016 and March 2017; 7.000 MMBtu/day for December 2012 – February 2013, December 
2013 – February 2014, December 2014 – February 2015, December 2015 – February 2016, and 
December 2016 to February 2017; 4,000 MMBtu/day for April 2013, October 2013, April 2014. October 
2014, April 2015, October 2015, April 2016, October 2016, April 2017 and October 2017; 



 

58 

CITY OF FREMONT, NEBRASKA 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2014 
 
 
NOTE D – OTHER NOTES, CONTINUED 
 
  3. Commitments and Contingencies, Continued 
 
3,000 MMBtu/day for May 2013 – September 2013, May 2014 to May 2014, May 2015 – September 
2015, May 2016 – September 2016, and May 2017 – September 2017.  The price is based on the 
monthly index published inside FERC’s Gas Market Report.  Under the same agreement, the City agreed 
to purchase 1,000 MMBtu/day for December 2012, February and December 2013, February and 
December 2014, February and December 2015, February and December 2016, and February 2017; and 
2,000 MMBtu/day for January 2013, January 2014, January 2015, January 2016, and January 2017.  
 
Construction 
 
The City is a party to numerous contracts relating to construction and other capital addition projects.      
The City intends to fund the construction through operations or long-term financing. 
 

Contract Paid Through Obligation   Expected

Project Amount 9/30/2014 Pending Completion

Governmental:

Westside BNSF Viaduct 961,414$            778,213$              183,201$            December 31, 2018
West Military Paving & Drainage 1,626,286           1,532,374             93,912               April 30, 2015
Main St, 1st-3rd 79,391               70,086                  9,305                 September 30, 2015
Johnson Road Widening, Military-16th 20,890               19,730                  1,160                 September 30, 2015
Pierce Street Reconstruction, Linden-Military 23,590               2,700                    20,890               December 31, 2016
Park Ave, 2nd-Military 72,660               67,500                  5,160                 September 30, 2015
Luther Road Widening, Military-23rd 95,900               73,291                  22,609               December 31, 2016
1st Street, Bell-Luther 78,500               72,630                  5,870                 December 31, 2016
32nd St Paving Improvements 82,330               76,910                  5,420                 December 31, 2016
Pedestrian Signal Replacements 42,900               39,007                  3,893                 December 31, 2015
Broad Street Widening, 5th-10th 97,000               29,850                  67,150               December 31, 2015
Unified Development Code 146,000              145,874                126                    September 30, 2015
Digital Aerial Photography 24,574               16,383                  8,191                 April 30, 2015
E911 Dispatch Radio Console 485,512              461,236                24,276               January 31, 2015
Airport Terminal Area Planning 45,402               43,100                  2,302                 February 28, 2015
Rawhide Creek Trail 228,241              -                       228,241              April 30, 2016
Luther Road Improvements, 32nd-38th 131,062              26,187                  104,875              June 30, 2015
Ridge-Hormel Park Trail 69,750               57,528                  12,222               September 30, 2015
Tech Park Water & Sewer Extensions 189,153              160,403                28,750               October 31, 2014
Alley Paving 5th-6th, Platte & Logan 42,130               -                       42,130               June 30, 2015

Enterprise Funds:

Unit 8 Environmental Upgrade 47,564,632         15,323,929            32,240,703         February 28, 2016
Unit 8 Hot Side Electrostatic Precipitator Upgrade 3,542,649           3,188,384             354,265              March 31, 2015
Power Plant Roof Replacement 117,367              70,885                  46,482               April 30, 2015
Municipal Building Boiler Replacement 116,573              7,268                    109,305              March 31, 2015
Municipal Building Basement Remodel 67,640               5,000                    62,640               December 31, 2014
Wellfield Vaults 62,428               -                       62,428               December 31, 2014
N Luther Water & Sewer Main Extensions 366,638              329,974                36,664               October 31, 2014
Military, Clarkson to Park Water Main Replacement 346,947              35,182                  311,765              May 31, 2015

Solids Processing Building Roof Replacement 72,424               25,000                  47,424               October 31, 2014

56,799,983$       22,658,624$          34,141,359$       
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Other 
 
The City is involved in lawsuits arising in the ordinary course of business, including claims for property 
damage and personal injury. In the opinion of the City management, based on the advice of the City 
attorney with respect to litigation, these matters are not expected to have a materially adverse effect on 
the City’s financial position at September 30, 2014. 
 
The City receives funds under various federal grant programs to be expended in accordance with the 
provisions of the grants. Compliance with grant provisions is subject to audit by various governmental 
agencies which may impose sanctions in the event of noncompliance. 

 
  4. Major Customers 
 
The City has one customer that was billed $3,229,370 for electricity, $2,697,276 for gas, and $1,343,627 
for sewer for the year ended September 30, 2014.  This represents 10.0 percent of total electric billing, 
15.1 percent of total gas billing, and 30.3 percent of total sewer billing, respectively, for the year ended 
September 30, 2014.  (The billings represent 11.9 percent of total City utility billings.)  This customer 
maintains a current status on monthly billings. 
 
  5. EPA Emissions Allowances 
 
As of September 30, 2014, the City had 13,206 SO2 Emissions Allowances related to the Lon D. Wright 
Power Plant.  The EPA has granted these allowances, which can be used to offset plant emissions.  The 
allowances can be bought and sold.  Changes to federal regulations on SO2 emissions that would 
eliminate the existing credits effective January 1, 2015 result in a zero market value for the credits 
available at year end. 
 
6. Union Contracts 

 
The City is subject to the following union contracts: 
 

 International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 1536 Unit 5 – effective October 1, 2013 – 
September 30, 2017. 

 
 American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL/CIO Local 251 – effective 

October 1, 2013 – September 30, 2017. 
 
 International Association of Fire Fighters Local 1015 – effective October 1, 2013 – September 30, 

2017. 
 
 Fraternal Order of Police, Local No. 37 – effective October 1, 2013 – September 30, 2015. 
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  7. Interlocal Agreements 

The City has the following interlocal agreements in effect as of September 30, 2014:  
 

Parties to Agreement Term Description
Dodge County School District 
No. 1

1/1/2014 to termination School Resource Officer

Dodge County School District 
No. 1 and Metropolitan 
Community College

4/5/2007 to perpetual Construct and maintain parking lot at 9th and H 
Street, Fremont

Nebraska Department of 
Environmental Quality (2 
agreements)

12/1/2012 to 
11/30/2014 and 

1/1/2013 to 6/30/2015

Implementation of stormwater management 
plan program for the City of Fremont

League Association of Risk 
Management

To termination Provide risk management and insurance 
coverage

Dodge County, Village of 
Inglewood, LPNNRD

7/22/2003 to 
completion

Evaluate potential for channel cut-off levee 
project (south Fremont)

Cities: Columbus, Norfolk, 
Battle Creek, Hooper, 
Oakland, Inglewood, Stanton, 
Craig, Hoskins, Meadow 
Grove, Pilger, Uehling.  
Counties:  Burt, Dodge, 
Madison & Stanton

7/28/1992 to 7/28/2022 Provide solid waste management to their 
respective constituencies by the means of 
creating, building and operating a solid waste 
disposal facility (landfill).

Sanitary Improvement District 
#8, Saunders County

2/10/2009 to 
termination

Supplementation of present emergency 
warning system by connecting its emergency 
warning system to the City of Fremont's 
system.

Village of Inglewood 3/15/2012 to 3/15/2015 Keno lottery, CDBG projects, sewer and water 
systems

Omaha Public Power District 7/18/2014 to 7/15/2018 Provide reliable, cost effective energy related 
products and services 

Counties:  Dodge, Burt, 
Saunders, Colfax, Cuming, 
and Washington                      
Cities:  Dodge, Snyder, 
Scribner, Hooper, Uehling, 
Winslow, Nickerson, North 
Bend
Village: Inglewood

1/1/2007 to 12/31/2016 Enhanced 911 services

Counties of Dodge, Cuming 
and Saunders, and Cities of 
Blair, Wahoo, West Point and 
Ashland

10/1/2013 to 9/30/2014 Drug task force

Dodge County School District 
No. 1

10/15/2013 - 
10/15/2014

Utility services 
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Parties to Agreement Term Description
City of Oakland, Nebraska 8/12/2008 to 

termination
Disposal of sewer sludge

Cities of:  Beatrice, Columbus, 
Fremont, Grand Island, 
Hastings, Kearney, Lexington, 
Norfolk, North Platte and 
Scottsbluff

10/11/2007 to 
termination 

Facilitate performance of obligations under the 
laws of the State of Nebraska and the United 
States of America regarding the management 
of storm water

Saunders County 12/14/2004 to 
12/14/2014

Provide consistent application of building and 
zoning codes within two-mile area of City of 
Fremont

Dodge County 1/20/2002 to 
termination

Use of wastewater residuals biosolids on crop 
land

Douglas County 12/08/2009 to 
12/08/2014

Provide forensic and crime scene services.

Region 5/6 Emergency 
Management Agency

6/30/2012 to 
termination

Provide emergency management services

Dodge County 4/10/2012 to perpetual Joint communications center to provide 
dispatch services

Saunders County 12/5/2011 to 
termination

Mutual law enforcement assistance

Northeast Nebraska Economic 
Development District

Upon termination Creating and implementing community and 
economic development programs

City of Scribner 12/28/2010 - 1/31/2015 
or completion of project

Serve as responsible charge for Scribner 
Pedestrian Trail for City of Scribner.

Three Rivers District health 
Department

3/27/2013 to 
termination

Provide services during a public health 
emergency to protect citizens of Dodge, 
Saunders, ad Washington Counties from 
disease, diability and death.

City of Kennard 9/11/2012 - 9/11/2017 Keno lottery  
 
  8. Subsequent Events 
 
Management has evaluated subsequent events through January 21, 2015, the date on which the financial 
statements were available for issue 
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